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Chairman’s Statement
I am proud to report on the many
achievements of Melli Bank (the Bank)
during 2008; a year in which the Bank
faced extraordinary challenges. The
Bank continued its past successes
with an outstanding performance in the
first half of 2008. This was interrupted
only when the Bank was subjected to
sanctions imposed by the Council of
the European Union on 24 June 2008.
Whilst in 2007, the US Government
had made allegations regarding the
financing of the proliferation of nuclear
technology which also included
the Bank, by 2008 it had still not
produced any evidence to support
or substantiate these allegations.
Indeed the politically motivated actions
of the US government against Iran
intensified even further in 2008. One
of the publicly declared aims of these
actions was to isolate Iranian financial
institutions by exerting intense
pressure on international banks who
had continued legally to deal with
their Iranian counterparts from doing
so. The Bank considers such extraterritorial actions unfair, unjustified and
often in breach of local rules.

operated in compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations, a
fact confirmed by an independent
firm of accountants who reviewed
the Bank’s operations and reported
that it had not transacted with any
designated prohibited persons
or entities. In our view the action
against the Bank was entirely
unjustified, and even if the risks
cited by the EU Council are assumed
to be credible, the sanctions are
disproportionate.
Given the political background
leading to the EU action described
above, the Bank had been
anticipating the sanctions and was
able to respond in a timely manner
to the requirements of customers.
The Bank’s operations in the first
half of 2008 were dominated by the
heightened risk of sanctions, but
despite this very difficult operating
environment, the Bank successfully
and profitably managed the
reduction of its balance sheet in
order to mitigate the risks to both
assets and customer funds.

The Bank adopted revised objectives
and strategies in the light of the new
operational realities in place after
2007, putting on hold its expansion
strategy, scaling down its US Dollar
assets and re-denominating its share
capital and reserves from US Dollars
into Euros. In 2008, with the increasing
risk of appeasement of the US by the
EU, the Bank continued to reduce
its asset base that had already been
downsized deliberately from €2.7bn
at the end of 2006 to €1.8bn at the
end of 2007.

Since the start of its operations in
2002 and right up to the imposition
of sanctions, the Bank had been
highly successful in providing a
professional commercial banking
service in full compliance with all
applicable regulations. Looking
ahead, the Bank intends to maintain
an appropriate level of resources and
readiness to resume full operations
and regain its central place in the
international trade between Iran and
the rest of the world once sanctions
are lifted.

Sanctions were imposed on 24 June
2008 as a result of an EU Council
decision. These measures followed the
example of the US action in 2007 in
designating the Bank without providing
any evidence against it. The Bank has
enjoyed a good track record with its
regulator, the FSA, and has always

The Bank is not permitted to
undertake new business while the
sanctions remain in place and as a
result it has taken action to reduce
its overheads to a level consistent
with the short term objective of
retaining readiness for relaunch
of its operations. The challenge of
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continuing the Bank’s operations to
the extent permitted by the sanctions
has been well met and despite the
complex and time consuming nature
of compliance with the sanctions
regulations and the reporting
requirements of the authorities,
the Bank has been discharging its
liabilities as they have fallen due
and collected its receivables in an
orderly manner.
The Bank is confident that when
it is permitted to resume normal
operations, it will once again pursue
its growth objectives and thereby
achieve profitable operation in a
relatively short space of time.
I wish to thank all the members of the
Board of Directors for their effective,
valuable and thoughtful contributions
which I am confident has assisted the
executive management of the Bank
to achieve all that I have described in
this Statement.
On behalf of the Board of Directors,
I would also like to thank the executive
management and all the members
of staff in London, Tehran and Hong
Kong for their loyalty and contribution
under very challenging conditions.
I must also express the appreciation of
the Board of Directors of the support
and co-operation of our parent
company, Bank Melli Iran, without
which the Bank’s achievements during
this difficult period would not have
been possible. The correspondent
banks that have continued to maintain
their relationship with Melli Bank
have demonstrated their faith in the
future re-emergence of Melli Bank as
a successful and dynamic financial
organisation after the resolution of the
political differences which have led
to the current sanctions; a belief in a
bright future for the Bank that I and
all my colleagues on the Board
of Directors share.
Ali Sedghi
Chairman
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Managing Director’s Statement
In the first six months of 2008 Melli Bank produced an outstanding
performance which pointed to record profitability for 2008, continuing the
uninterrupted period of success since starting operations in 2002.
Unfortunately these expectations
disappeared on 24 June 2008 when
unfair, unjustified and politically
motivated sanctions were imposed
upon the Bank by the Council of the
European Union (“EU”).
The un-audited pre-tax profit in the
first six months of 2008 amounted
to €30m compared to €22.2m for
the same un-audited period a year
earlier. However as a result of the
EU sanctions restricting the Bank’s
activities and its key risk mitigation
processes, the pre-tax profit for
the year as a whole dropped
from €47.4m in 2007 to €7.6m,
amounting to a reduction of 84% in
comparison to 2007. The balance
sheet was reduced from €1.8bn at
the end of 2007 to €0.5bn at the
end of 2008.
2008 Review
With financial conditions continuing
to deteriorate and creating more
difficulties for businesses as well as
households than expected, 2008
was a difficult year as the full effect
of the credit crunch took hold.
Risk aversion came to rule as both
markets and individuals re-priced
liquidity, downgrading and deleveraging, capital and counterparty
risks. The ensuing slow-down which
affected all financial institutions to
varying degrees also impacted the
Bank at the time when it was in the
process of downsizing its balance
sheet and was subject to extreme
operational difficulties from earlier
US actions. As a well capitalised,
liquid, net lender in the markets
with no rating to defend, the Bank
suffered adversely not from the
troubles associated with the credit
crunch, but from political forces.
Unilateral coercive pressure from
ANNUAL REPORT 2008

the US on our counterparts,
nostro relationships, clearers and
custodians to discontinue dealing
with the Bank made operations
particularly challenging in early
2008. Consequently, the Bank
undertook a calling programme
to visit key counterparts in
order to communicate crucial
facts relating to its very strong
corporate governance structure,
stringent compliance policies
and procedures, and the detailed
due diligence processes that
transactions are put through before
they are actioned, thereby allaying
fears that dealing with Melli Bank
would in any way be improper.
In March 2008 the UN Security
Council adopted Resolution 1803
calling on all States to exercise
vigilance over the activities of
financial institutions in their
territories with all banks domiciled
in Iran. Although this resolution did
not apply any sanctions, the impact
on the business was noticeable as
the overall appetite in the market to
deal with Iranian risk took a turn for
the worse.
Ever conscious that effective
management would necessitate
the mitigation of sanction risks,
the Bank had already started to
reduce its assets by early 2007 as
the political situation was growing
ever more tense. Indeed, by the end
of 2007, assets had been reduced
to €1.8bn from a level of €2.7bn
a year earlier. This programme
continued into 2008 such that by
the date sanctions were imposed
upon the Bank, assets had been
reduced to around €868m and at
year end stood at €503m. The fact
that the Bank was able to undertake
such effective balance sheet
streamlining without incurring any

material losses, is testimony to the
quality of the credit risk exposure
of these assets and the effective
management of the risks.
The sanctions imposed upon
Melli Bank towards the end of
June 2008 by the Council of the
European Union restrained the
Bank from dealing with its assets
and undertaking any new business.
The effect of these sanctions has
been very significant indeed and
has brought the Bank’s normal
banking activities to a standstill and
drastically reduced its profitability.
The sole rationale for the imposition
of these sanctions was that Melli
Bank is a subsidiary of Bank Melli
Iran, in respect of which it is alleged
that the latter has supported
Iran’s nuclear activities. No such
allegation, however, has been made
against Melli Bank. Indeed Grant
Thornton, an independent firm of
accountants, confirmed in a report
commissioned in June 2008 that
Melli Bank had in fact not been
trading with persons or companies
subject to the United Nations
Security Council and European
Union sanctions concerning Iran.
Almost immediately, following the
imposition of these sanctions, Melli
Bank commenced the process for
challenging their legality through the
European Court of First Instance.
The European Court of First Instance
has been considering the objections
of Melli Bank and an oral hearing
took place on 20 January 2009. The
Court’s decision was still awaited at
the time of writing this statement.
Furthermore, I am advised that there
may be an opportunity to appeal to
the European Court of Justice by
either Melli Bank or the Council of
www.mellibank.com
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the European Union following the
decision of the European Court of
First Instance.

Underlying profit (€m)
47.4 46.7

50

36.2

The sanctions have prevented
the Bank from undertaking new
business, investing its funds
freely or taking action to mitigate
its business risks. These factors,
together with a very substantial
balance sheet contraction before the
sanctions, have resulted in a pre-tax
profit of €10.0m. Operating income
of €36m shows a 40% reduction in
comparison with last year, mainly
due to the reduction in interest and
commission incomes, exacerbated
by exceptional foreign exchange
losses of €9.9m that were caused
by the factors described in the
previous paragraph.
Review of the Bank’s achievements
from the start of operations
In spite of the significant challenges
that we have had to overcome,
particularly during the past two
financial periods, the Bank is proud
of its outstanding achievements and
will continue, once the sanctions
have been lifted, to devise the
required policies and implement
12
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As alluded to earlier, the political
build up to the sanctions enabled
the Bank to formulate risk mitigation
plans to respond to the concerns
of its customers. The timing of
the sanctions was an unknown
factor but by the date the EU
announced its decision, the Bank’s
operations had been downsized
substantially. I feel it of importance
to draw attention to the fact that
despite the complicated and time
consuming nature of compliance
with the sanctions and the reporting
requirements of the authorities,
the Bank has continued to meet
all its obligations as they have
fallen due. Operational risks have
been well managed, although the
management of business risks,
such as foreign exchange positions,
have been adversely affected by the
regulations which have prevented
the Bank from taking appropriate
action. This has had a material
affect on the profitability of the
Bank in 2008.

corporate lending activities that
ranged from bilateral and syndicated
lending to capital investment
projects and aircraft financing.
30.0

30

20.3
20

24.1

12.1
7.6

10

02

03

04

05

06

Years

07

08

08
First Half

the necessary strategies that will
ensure the continuation of its
growth into the future. Since the
start of the Bank’s operations in
2002, Melli Bank has adopted and
consistently applied a business
strategy based on a philosophy
of continuous improvement and
sustainable growth.
The chart above shows the
underlying profitability for the
seven years since the start of the
operations in 2002 to 2008. The
exceptional income in the years
2005, 2006 and 2007, as shown in
the following table, had the effect
of boosting the profit before tax
(see table 1).
At the heart of our strategy has
been the successful diversification
of activities in carefully selected
markets and in a variety of financial
products tailored to meet the
unique requirements of our clients
(see table 2). From a geographical
concentration perspective, the
Bank’s relationship networks within
Iran together with the synergies
provided by the extensive global
network of our parent entity, Bank
Melli Iran, have both offered us
a significant advantage over our
competitors in the Iranian market.
Over the past seven years, our
Iranian portfolio has been mostly
biased towards the Banking sector;
notably high-yielding short-term
banking assets. However, more
recently, owing to tremendous
growth prospects and high returns
within the Iranian corporate sector,
our business mix had changed
as we devoted a larger portion
of our resources to the corporate
sector; actively engaging in various

Putting the sectoral focus to
one side, from a geographical
perspective, we have been
proactively taking on assets other
than solely Iranian risks, despite
the latter being the main focus of
our strategy. For example, we have
maintained a geographically well
diversified global portfolio which
has had as its main objective the
facilitation of the financing of trade
flows between Iran and the rest of
the world. We have at the same
time, secured exposures to the
prime credits within the emerging
market economies through our
portfolio of investments.
An integral control feature of our
business strategy has been the
adoption and application of what
we believe are adequate and robust
models of risk management that
ensure the safety and soundness
of the Bank’s assets. Our risk
management practices have
emphasised the quality of oversight
provided by the directors and senior
management, the adequacy of
relevant policies which effectively
control the risks inherent in our
business activities, the quality of
risk measurement and monitoring
systems, and the adequacy of our
internal controls to prevent fraud or
any unauthorised activities. It is such
that risk management at Melli Bank
is regarded as a proactive function
of performance measurement,
risk based pricing, and portfolio
management.
Since its incorporation, the Bank
has been operating under difficult
conditions, due to market-wide
and politically driven risk factors.
In spite of all these challenges, the
Bank is proud of its track record
of excellence. Let me enumerate
some of these: we have been, and
continue to be amongst the best
capitalised Banks in the UK (see
table 3). For example, between 2002
and 2008 our capital adequacy ratio
has ranged between 29% and 71%.
www.mellibank.com

Table 1: Profits

First Half

2002
€m

2003
€m

2004
€m

2005
€m

2006
€m

2007
€m

2008
€m

2008
€m

12.1

20.3

24.1

36.2

47.4

46.7

7.6

30.0

12.1

20.3

24.1

41.4

56.6

47.4

7.6

30.0

Table 2: Diversification of Portfolio

2002
€m

2003
€m

2004
€m

2005
€m

2006
€m

2007
€m

2008
€m

Loans and advances to banks - money market
Loans and advances to banks - other
Loans and advances to customers
Debt securities
Total assets

1,414
156
107
60
1,751

1,034
342
171
137
1,700

623
595
135
164
1,539

500
954
213
197
1,901

855
953
288
567
2,712

368
838
339
245
1,820

9
324
107
49
503

2002
€m

2003
€m

2004
€m

2005
€m

2006
€m

2007
€m

2008
€m

58.7%
5.6%

45.3%
11.3%

41.4%
14.5%

44.2%
21.8%

28.8%
31.5%

41.7%
28.3%

71.1%
5.2%

Profit before taxation &
before exceptional items
Profit before taxation after
exceptional items

Table 3: Capital Ratios & Return on Capital
Total capital to total risk weighted assets
Profit before taxation

Secondly, since the establishment of
Melli Bank’s independent operations
in 2002, the asset base increased
from €1.7bn to €2.7bn in 2006
before the Bank prudently chose to
adopt a cautious strategy in 2007,
as I mentioned earlier. Thirdly, from
a financial performance perspective,
at both the entity level and the
segment level, the Bank’s earnings
based indicators have demonstrated
its commitment to value creation
for the equity holder. That is to say,
since 2002 to the end of 2007,
despite conservative capital ratios
throughout the period, an average
of 19% return-on-capital has been
generated, based on pre-tax profits.
Finally, the Bank’s achievements
are also the result of the efforts
of an exceptionally efficient and
effective team of expert staff whose
contributions to the success of this
entity have been exemplary.
The Bank’s achievements rank
highly when compared with the
banks in the UK where around 350
banks are active. Based on the
rankings published by The Banker
magazine (page 265 of July 2008
issue), ranking 2007 performance
and financial position, in terms of
soundness (capital/asset ratio) the
Bank ranked 7th, while by return on
assets its ranking was 5th and in
terms of return on capital the Bank
ranked 11th in the UK.
ANNUAL REPORT 2008

To establish and maintain stability
in our operations, we have a
capital adequacy management
system in place based on which
the risk-weighted capital ratio is
consistently reviewed as our key
indicator for assessing the ability
to absorb potential losses. This
ensures a safe return to our equity
holder, and the ability for us to
meet our potential obligations
to other stakeholders. During
the current financial period we
have adopted the requirements
of the new Basel Capital
Accord as implemented in the
European Union via the Capital
Requirements Directive (CRD) and
believe that the new methodology
will lead to a more transparent
disclosure of the Bank’s
underlying financial strength. In
prior periods, under the regulatory
requirements, we complied with
the requirements of Basel I for
measuring the Bank’s risk based
capital ratio.
In summary, considered
collectively, the Bank has achieved
a track record of outstanding
success since 2002. Quite clearly,
the lower than expected levels
of our key indicators during the
current reporting period are
entirely due to circumstances
beyond our control; where
certain exogenous factors have

imposed limitations on the level of
our activities and have thus hindered
our performance. I am confident
that once the existing obstacles that
are politically driven are overcome,
the Bank will resume the pursuit of
its growth objectives and achieve
a highly profitable operation in a
relatively short space of time.
I am grateful for the continued
support and contribution of my
colleagues on the Board of Directors.
Similarly, I wish to express my
gratitude to the Board of Directors
and the management of Bank Melli
Iran, the Bank’s parent, who have
continued to support and fund the
operations of the Bank despite
imminent risk of sanctions in 2007
and 2008.
Finally, I am thankful and appreciative
of the efforts and dedication of the
members of staff in an exceptionally
difficult year. My excellent
management team have contributed
a great deal in the past year and will
be crucial in assisting the successful
relaunch of the operations of the
Bank once the restrictions are lifted.
Ahmad Azizi
Deputy Chairman and Managing
Director

www.mellibank.com
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Financial Highlights
The results of 2008, arising from two entirely different sets of operating
circumstances are most usefully considered, not as a whole but rather
as two halves, pre- and post-sanctions.
In the first half of 2008, Melli Bank produced an outstanding
performance which pointed to a record profitability for the year. In
the period after the imposition of sanctions (24 June 2008) the Bank
was unable to write any new business and the disruption of its risk
management processes brought both material foreign exchange losses
and contributed to asset impairment.
The following analysis based on unaudited management accounts,
demonstrates the scale of the impact of sanctions:
First Half

Second Half

Full Year

2008
$’m

2007
$’m

2008
$’m

2007
$’m

2008
$’m

2007
$’m

Interest receivable
Interest payable

50.1
27.9

68.1
46.0

20.5
10.9

62.5
38.8

70.6
38.8

130.6
84.8

Net interest income
Fees and commissions net income
Dealing profits

22.2
7.4
6.2

22.1
6.4
0.5

9.6
1.7
(11.3)

23.7
9.0
(1.8)

31.8
9.1
(5.0)

45.8
15.4
(1.3)

Operating income

35.8

29.0

-

30.9

35.9

59.9

(5.1)
(0.7)

(6.8)
-

(5.9)
(16.5)

(6.4)
-

(11.0)
(17.2)

(13.2)
-

30.0

22.2

(22.4)

24.5

7.6

46.7

2008

2007

2006

2005

2004

2003

2002

Operating Income (€m)

35.9

59.9

59.1

48.1

32.4

26.4

19.5

Net Interest Income
(% operating income)

31.8
89%

45.7
76%

44.1
75%

37.5
78%

22.8
70%

17.5
66%

12.6
65%

Net Fees and Commissions Income
(% operating income)

9.1
25%

15.4
26%

11.1
19%

9.2
19%

7.4
23%

6.9
26%

5.9
30%

Dealing Profits
(% operating income)

(5.0)
(14%)

(1.3)
(2%)

1.2
2%

1.4
3%

1.4
4%

1.9
7%

1.2
6%

Administration expenses
Provisions for impairment
Profit/(loss) before taxation (2007 before
property disposals and taxation)
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First Half Performance
The Bank’s operations in the first
half of 2008 were dominated by the
heightened risk of sanctions. The
political build up to the sanctions
enabled the Bank to formulate
risk mitigation plans to respond to
customers’ concerns and, whilst
the timing of the sanctions was
an unknown factor, the Bank’s
operations had gone through
substantial downsizing by the date
the EU Council announced its
decision to designate the Bank.
The downsizing required the sale
of assets to enable repayment of
liabilities. This process brought
benefits from the changing
interest rate environment as the
fixed rate asset sales and deposit
cancellations yielded enhanced
capital values and brought strong
dealing profits to the first half as
future profits were crystallised
early.
The normal trading of the Bank,
strong at the outset of the year,
fell back as the possibility of
sanctions gained ground, but
the fee income and net margins
earned bore tribute to the strategy
and relationships put in place in
previous years. The profit of €30m
was increased considerably over
that achieved in 2007.
Second Half Performance
The most costly impact of the
EU sanction regime was that
it prevented the Bank from
undertaking new business and
inhibited the Bank from squaring
the foreign exchange positions
open at the date of imposition of
those sanctions. These positions,
which were at that time large in
comparison with the balance sheet
size, gave rise to losses of over
€10.8m in the second half.

16
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The sanctions also limited the
ability of the Bank to negotiate
effectively with its customers and
properly arrange the collection of
loans and the exercise of security.
The Bank would not have expected
to require this degree of impairment
provisions in normal trading
conditions.
The foreign exchange and
impairment losses were the main
contributing factors to the €22.4m
loss for this period. Furthermore,
the major practical impacts of
the EU sanctions were to exclude
a supplier of liquidity from the
London wholesale money-markets
and to reduce the taxable profit of
a UK bank.
Performance Summary
As noted, the strong first half
performance was enabled by
the strategy and relationships
developed and implemented over
a number of years.

The relationship with our parent
company necessitated an
emphasis on improving the Bank’s
long-term profit generating ability
and earnings quality, and an equal
attention to the role of consistent
and stable earnings in creating
value for our equity-holder.
The Bank’s main focus has
historically been on optimising
its return-on-capital based on
underlying profits before taxation
and also maximising return on
average equity where we have
continuously improved our position,
on average, respectively by 41%
and 37% per annum over the past
six years.
Since 2002, underlying earnings
have experienced considerable
growth which resulted in increases
in the Bank’s pre-tax return-oncapital from 5.6% in 2002 to 27.9%
in 2007 while return on average
equity also improved from 5.5%
to 22%.

To ensure consistent earnings, the
main source of operating income
has always been the more stable
interest, fee and commission
income as opposed to the more
volatile dealing profits. Accordingly,
net interest income and net fees
and commissions income, which
continuously increased from 2002
up to 2008, have contributed
to our total operating earnings
by an average of 75% and 23%
respectively, compared to a
minimal 0.3% from dealing profits.
As a result of the strategic support
of Bank Melli Iran, the Bank has
maintained a strong capital base.
This support has been provided not
least because the Bank has been
able to provide value for
that capital.

www.mellibank.com

2008
$m

2007
$m

2006
$m

2005
$m

2004
$m

2003
$m

2002
$m

Profit before taxation
Taxation
Retained profit

7.6
2.3
5.3

47.4
12.9
34.5

56.6
15.0
41.6

41.4
12.4
29.0

24.1
7.7
14.2

20.3
6.1
14.1

12.1
3.4
8.7

Subordinated debt
Shareholders’ funds
Regulatory Capital Base

113
198
310

106
227
333

118
208
326

63
259
322

55
200
255

60
200
260

72
224
296

Deposits by banks
Certificates of deposit
Customer accounts

171
11

1,025
362
52

1,339
893
110

1,232
314

953
317

1,224
209

1,033
416

Loans and advances to banks - money market
Loans and advances to banks - other
Loans and advances to customers
Debt securities
Total assets

9
324
107
49
503

368
838
339
245
1,820

855
953
288
567
2,712

500
954
213
197
1,901

623
595
135
164
1,539

1,034
342
171
137
1,700

1,414
156
107
60
1,751

71.1%

41.7%

28.8%

44.2%

41.4%

45.3%

58.7%

Return on capital
Profit before taxation
Underlying profit before taxation

3.9%
3.9%

28.3%
27.9%

31.5%
26.4%

21.8%
19.0%

14.5%
14.5%

11.3%
11.3%

5.6%
5.6%

Return on average shareholders’ funds (equity)
Profit before taxation

3.4%

22.0%

26.3%

16.9%

12.4%

10.5%

5.5%

Return on average assets
Profit before taxation

0.7%

2.1%

2.4%

2.3%

1.50%

1.3%

0.5%

Performance summary

Capital ratio
Total capital to total risk weighted assets

The results for 2006 and earlier years were previously reported in US Dollars, then the functional currency of the
Bank. The monetary values of the results of these earlier years have been converted to Euros at the relevant year
end rates.
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Business Review
The Bank adopted a vigilant strategy in 2008 as headwinds from both the
business and political backgrounds bore a definite chill.
Early in the year global inflation
was rising rapidly amid a significant
growth slowdown. Global headline
consumer price index inflation
was on track to break 4%, its
highest level in over a decade.
Core inflation looked set to move
decisively above 2% for the first
time during this expansion. Rising
commodity prices also reflected
a macroeconomic environment of
four full years of above-trend GDP
growth. Central banks were moving
to an accommodative policy stance
and the slowing in global industry
was reverberating far and wide,
with the bellwether economies of
Emerging Asia feeling the effect.
Closer to home, in the United
Kingdom, data confirmed that house
prices had transitioned into a phase
of outright decline. Reports showed
even as conditions in wholesale
credit markets improved, the
expectation of falling house prices
was set to encourage lenders to
continue tightening the availability
of mortgage credit, raising the
risk of a downward spiral of falling
home prices and declining credit
availability. Manufacturing orders
appeared to be following the global
trend downward and service activity
remained soft. This was in effect the
beginning of the credit crunch.
Despite these factors, the
economic outlook for Iran was
looking decidedly sheltered from
these worries and the mood was
confident. Trade activity proved to
be buoyant. The bank was able to
take advantage of this condition
in the first half of the year by
maintaining its area of focus on
Iran-related business.
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On the political front, the
international community was
continuing to increase the pressure
on Iran and talks of escalating
sanctions were becoming more and
more regular in the media.
By June, conditions had
deteriorated both in business terms
and politically as evidenced by
central banks cutting interest rates
and by EU sanctions imposed on
Melli Bank.
The worst affected economy was
that of the US, evidenced by the
Fed Funds rate that had been
cut by 325 basis points since
August 2007 and stood at 2%
by June 2008. The Euro area in
contrast appeared more resilient:
the refinancing rate had remained
unchanged over the period and
stood at 4%. In the UK base rates
were still at 5%, a mere 75 basis
points lower than their level a year
earlier.
As the Bank’s core area of activity
was concentrated in Euros, forward
expectations in early June 2008,
remained fairly positive. The view
was that as conditions improve,
rates would be slowly raised as
central banks pursue their fight
against inflation.
On 24 June 2008, a Decision
of the Council of the European
Union was published in the Official
Journal of the European Union
implementing Council Regulation
(EC) No 423/2007 concerning
restrictive measures against Iran of
19 April 2007. As a consequence
of this Decision, Bank Melli Iran,

its branches and subsidiaries,
including Melli Bank were added
to the list of persons or entities
in Annex V to the EC Regulation
who have been determined by
the European Council to fulfil the
criteria set out in Article 7(2) of
the EC Regulation. The effect of
the listing was to impose certain
financial sanctions, including
an asset freeze, on Melli Bank.
The Council Decision was given
further effect in the UK by the Iran
(European Communities Financial
Sanctions) Regulations 2007.
It is not alleged that Melli Bank had
breached any UN Security Council
Resolution, the EC Regulation
or the UK Iran Regulations. The
sole ground for the imposition of
sanctions was that Melli Bank is a
subsidiary of Bank Melli Iran.
Under the sanctions regime
the Bank has halted all new
business activities. Pre-existing
commitments are considered on
a case-by-case basis and are
presented to HM Treasury for
approval prior to being undertaken
by the Bank. Whilst Iran continued
to be the focal market for the Bank,
the Bank ceased taking on new
business once the EU sanctions
were announced.
At year-end, the portfolio remained
very well balanced with Iran
comprising 51% and non-Iran
making up the remainder (49%)
of assets. In terms of sector split,
Banks accounted for 54% of the
portfolio and non-Banks 46%.

www.mellibank.com

19

Artwork by Fadavi

20

ANNUAL REPORT 2008

Internal Audit
Melli Bank’s internal audit function
is outsourced to Ernst & Young
LLP who report directly to the
Bank’s Audit Committee. The
Bank considers that Ernst &
Young bring material expertise
and independence to the internal
audit function that would be
difficult to achieve through
internal appointments. The Audit
Committee performs an active role
in monitoring the effectiveness of
the Bank’s compliance, systems
and controls.
The Audit Committee, which meets
at least four times every year,
comprises three non-executive
directors and is chaired by a nonexecutive director in order to give
it independence.
Compliance
Melli Bank allocates significant
resources to its Compliance
functions in its London, Hong Kong
and Tehran operations. The Bank
views compliance with the laws
and regulations of the jurisdictions
in which it operates, including UN
and EC sanctions affecting Iranian
entities, very seriously.
For the purposes of fighting
financial crime, customer due
diligence is carried out for
individual and corporate customers
as well as underlying beneficial
owners. Identification and
verification documents are retained
for a minimum of five years. The
Compliance Department reviews
and oversees the establishment
and maintenance of relationships.
The Hong Kong branch is
supervised by the Compliance
Department in London. Written
policies and procedures are in
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place to combat money laundering
and the financing of terrorism which
are independently monitored and
audited on an annual basis. All staff
within the Bank receive training
on at least an annual basis, to
ensure their awareness of the risks
of money laundering and terrorist
financing remains up to date and
at the forefront of their minds when
conducting business activities.
The Money Laundering Reporting
Officer (“MLRO”) appointed by
Melli Bank is a Deputy Managing
Director who reports directly to the
Managing Director of the Bank.
In addition, the MLRO reports to
the Bank’s Audit Committee on a
regular basis.
The imposition of sanctions
has had a major impact on the
activities of the Bank. The Bank
places utmost importance on full
compliance with the sanctions and
the Compliance Department is
central to this effort.
On 24 June 2008, HM Treasury
issued a Notice which outlined
the exemptions to the asset freeze
in the Council Regulation (EC)
No 423/2007. These exemptions
include payments due to the Bank
under a contract, agreement or
obligation which was concluded
or arose before 24 June 2008,
provided these payments are made
into frozen accounts.
All non-exempt transactions require
a licence from HM Treasury.
Following the imposition of
sanctions, the Bank prepared
(and agreed with HM Treasury)
new procedures to ensure that all
payments and other instructions

issued by the Bank meet the terms
of the licences granted by HM
Treasury. These procedures also
provide for regular confirmation to
HM Treasury by the Bank and its
accountants that only permitted
payments under the terms of HM
Treasury licences are undertaken.
Under the new procedures the
Compliance Department authorises
all payments. The Compliance
Department liaises with HM
Treasury on all licensing issues.
Extra staff have been transferred
from other departments to the
Compliance Department to deal
with the additional workload.
Corporate responsibility
Corporate responsibility for Melli
Bank is embodied by the concept
of ‘Responsible Banking’ which
is an integral part of the way the
Bank does business and a central
element of its overall strategy.
Responsible Banking means
making informed, reasoned and
ethical decisions about how the
Bank conducts its business, how
it treats its employees and their
dependents and how it behaves
towards its customers and
clients. Melli Bank’s commitment
to responsible lending includes
providing straightforward
information, and applying strict
and sensible lending criteria. As
a Responsible Bank, Melli Bank
aims to be accountable to its
stakeholders and to discharge
its social responsibility to them,
by focusing on the following key
areas.
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Customers
Melli Bank is committed to
treating customers fairly and has
principles that guide employees
in understanding how they can
help the Bank deliver on that
commitment. The Bank has
in place a robust complaints
procedure for customers should
service fall short of the high
standards expected. A great deal
of effort has gone into improving
products and services and the
Bank is giving customers more
and better information to help them
make more informed decisions and
take more responsibility for their
finances. This commitment remains
a priority for the Bank.
Employees
The Bank is committed to
the health and safety of its
employees throughout all areas
of its worldwide operations.
This commitment has been
demonstrated through various
employee support initiatives to
aid the well-being of its employees
and the enhancement of their
experience with the Bank.
The Bank extends its support
to employees during periods of
difficulty such as bereavement
or illness.
Human resources
With the imposition of sanctions,
the Bank saw a marked decrease
in business volumes in the latter
part of 2008. As a result of the
muted business background the
Bank saw the need to adjust its
human resources to mirror these
conditions. In so doing, the Bank
is confident that it has transformed
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itself into a leaner entity better able
to withstand the continuation of
testing times in 2009 and beyond.
Whilst staff levels were reduced in
2008 to reflect the lower business
volumes care was taken to ensure
that vital human resources and
skills were retained. The view has
been that with the versatility of
these key individuals, the Bank
will not only survive challenging
times, but will also be better able
to reinstate its operations once
conditions improve.
The average level of staff fell in
2008 to 87, from 100 in 2007. As
at 31st December 2008, total staff
numbers stood at 60 though the
Bank had served notice on 9 and
thereby had set an overall headcount of 51 for early 2009. The
one-off cost of the redundancy
programme for 2008 in London
amounted to approximately
£660,000. The headcount was
reduced by 50% and the monthly
payroll costs decreased by 38%
(approximately £100,000).
Melli Bank has continued its
policy of internal promotion
whenever possible and has
provided opportunities for
inter-departmental transfers to
increase employees’ knowledge,
motivation and encouraging job
flexibility. Furthermore, the Bank
has continued to develop further
and to implement its policy of
rewarding staff through salary
reviews and bonus awards based
on performance and retention.
This has been maintained

throughout the period of sanctions
and the Bank has also remained
committed to the provision of
discretionary benefits, which staff
appreciate.
At the challenging time of having
to undergo a very significant
reduction of its staff, the Bank
was able to manage a redundancy
programme that was carried out
with the utmost respect for the
individuals affected. Throughout
this painful process the Bank was
diligent to ensure that morale for
the existing employees would be
retained. The Bank was still able
to encourage a level of concord
amongst staff.
The Bank encourages diversity
and advocates a culture of
professionalism, respect for
individuals and monitors and
rewards qualitative as well as
quantitative improvements
in performance. The use of
technology applied to human
resources has continued in 2008
to foster better communication
amongst staff through the
implementation of an online
intranet platform and the inception
of a programme of automation
of benefits.
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Directors’ Report
The directors present their annual report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2008.
Principal activities
The company is a commercial bank based in London and regulated by
the Financial Services Authority under the Financial Services and Markets
Act 2000. The principal activity of the company is the provision of banking
services.
Business review
The imposition of EU sanctions on 24 June 2008 prevents the Bank from
taking on new business and requires a licence from HM Treasury for all
other transactions.
Profit before taxation amounted to €7,605,000 (2007: €47,409,000) and
the profit after tax was €5,322,000 (2007: €34,507,000). A review of the
business and description of the management performance indicators is
provided in the Financial Highlights and Business Reviews on pages
19 to 23.
Details of the company’s financial risk management objectives and policies
and details of the company’s indicative exposure to financial risk are given
in the Financial Highlights and in note 20.
The Bank is confident that when it is permitted to resume normal
operations, it will once again pursue its growth objectives and achieve
highly profitable operations in a relatively short space of time.

Political and
charitable contributions
The Bank made no political
contributions during 2008 (2007: nil)
but did donate €7,300 to charity
(2007: €18,000).
Creditor payment period
The Bank seeks to settle trade
invoices promptly upon receipt. The
creditor payment period of invoices
outstanding at the year end, largely
determined by the timing of receipt
of those invoices and the availability
of the necessary HM Treasury
licence, was twenty days.
By the order of the Board
Ahmad Azizi
Deputy Chairman
and Managing Director
13 March 2009

Proposed dividend
The directors do not propose payment of a dividend in respect of the
year ended 31 December 2008.
Directors and directors’ interest
Directors who held office during the year were as follows:
Chairman 					

Mr. A. Sedghi

Deputy Chairman and Managing Director		

Dr. A. Azizi

Executive Directors				
						
						

Mr. B. Ataii
Mr. M. Vahidi 						
Mr. A. Zand (Company Secretary)

Non Executive Directors				
						
						
						

Mr. J. Pearson
Mr. J. Thompson
Mr G. Zaferani (resigned 20 April 2008)
Mr. M. Tavakoli (appointed 20 April 2008)

Dr. A. Azizi held one £1 ordinary share of the company at the year end. None of the other directors who held
office at the end of the financial year had any disclosable interest in the shares of the company.
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and the
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the directors
to prepare financial statements for
each financial year. Under that law
they have elected to prepare the
financial statements in accordance
with UK Accounting Standards.
The financial statements are
required by law to give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the
company and of the profit or loss of
the company for that period.

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:
• 	select

suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• 	state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed,
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements;
• 	prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is
inappropriate to presume that the company will continue in business;
and
• 	 prepare a directors’ report that complies with applicable UK law.
• 	 make

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply
with the Companies Act 1985. They have general responsibility for taking
such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the
company and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the
corporate and financial information included on the company’s website.
Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of
financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
The directors who held office at the date of approval of this directors’
report confirm that, so far as they are each aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the Bank’s auditors are unaware; and each director
has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a director to make
himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the
Bank’s auditors are aware of that information.
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Report of the Independent Auditors
to the Members of Melli Bank plc
We have audited the financial
statements of Melli Bank plc for
the year ended 31 December
2008 which comprise the principal
accounting policies, the profit and
loss account, the balance sheet,
the statement of total recognised
gains and losses and notes on
pages 33 to 58. These financial
statements have been prepared
under the accounting policies set
out therein.
This report is made solely to the
company’s members, as a body,
in accordance with Section 235
of the Companies Act 1985. Our
audit work has been undertaken
so that we might state to the
company’s members those matters
we are required to state to them
in an auditor’s report and for no
other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept
or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the company and the
company’s members as a body, for
our audit work, for this report, or for
the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of
directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for
preparing the Annual Report, the
Directors’ Remuneration Report
and the financial statements in
accordance with United Kingdom
law and Accounting Standards
(United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice)
are set out in the Statement of
Directors’ Responsibilities.
Our responsibility is to audit the
financial statements in accordance
with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland).
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We report to you our opinion as to
whether the financial statements
give a true and fair view and are
properly prepared in accordance
with the Companies Act 1985. We
also report to you whether in our
opinion the information given in the
Directors’ Report is consistent with
the financial statements.
In addition we report to you if,
in our opinion, the company
has not kept proper accounting
records, if we have not received
all the information and explanations
we require for our audit, or if
information specified by law
regarding directors’ remuneration
and other transactions is not
disclosed.
We read other information
contained in the Annual Report
and consider whether it is
consistent with the audited
financial statements. The other
information comprises only the
Directors’ Report, the Chairman’s
Statement, the Financial Highlights
and the Business Review. We
consider the implications for our
report if we become aware of any
apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the financial
statements. Our responsibilities
do not extend to any other
information.
Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in
accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland) issued by the Auditing
Practices Board. An audit includes
examination, on a test basis, of
evidence relevant to the amounts
and disclosures in the financial
statements. It also includes an
assessment of the significant

estimates and judgements made
by the directors in the preparation
of the financial statements, and of
whether the accounting policies
are appropriate to the company’s
circumstances, consistently applied
and adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed
our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations
which we considered necessary in
order to provide us with sufficient
evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the financial
statements are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or other irregularity or error.
In forming our opinion we also
evaluated the overall adequacy of
the presentation of information in
the financial statements.
Opinion
In our opinion:
• 	the financial statements give a
true and fair view, in accordance
with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice, of
the state of the company’s affairs
as at 31 December 2008 and of
its profit for the year then ended;
• 	the financial statements have
been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies
Act 1985; and
• 	the information given in the
Directors’ Report is consistent
with the financial statements.
Grant Thornton UK LLP
Registered Auditor
Chartered Accountants
London
13 March 2009
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Profit and Loss Account
Year Ended 31 December 2008

Note

Interest receivable
Interest receivable, excluding that arising from debt securities
Interest receivable from debt securities

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

67,437
3,135

106,820
23,777

70,572

130,597

Interest payable
Interest payable on deposits

(38,758)

(84,848)

Net interest income

31,814

45,749

9,327
(239)
(5,041)

15,710
(335)
(1,257)

35,861

59,867

(10,507)
(515)
(17,234)

(12,568)
(631)
741
-

7,605

47,409

Fees and commissions receivable
Fees and commissions (payable)
Dealing profits and (losses)

2

Operating income
Administration expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Profit on disposal of property
Impairment losses

3
10
10
9

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation
Tax on profit from ordinary activities

4

(2,283)

(12,902)

Retained profit for the financial year

17

5,322

34,507

All profits are earned from continuing operations.
The notes on pages 33 to 58 form part of these financial statements
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Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2008

Note

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

6
7
8
10

333,171
107,291
48,829
2,809
11,249

1,206,134
339,175
245,044
3,004
26,921

503,349

1,820,278

170,739
10,620
4,228
7,215
112,558

1,386,844
52,274
13,107
35,217
106,279

305,360

1,593,721

-

-

305,360

1,593,721

192,785
5,204

192,785
33,772

Shareholders’ funds

197,989

226,557

Total liabilities and shareholders’ funds

503,349

1,820,278

19,951
9,160

32,764
197,106

29,111

229,870

Assets
Loans and receivables - banks
Loans and receivables - customers
Debt securities
Tangible fixed assets
Prepayments and accrued income
Total assets
Liabilities
Deposits by banks
Customer accounts
Other liabilities
Accruals and deferred income
Subordinated liability

12
13
14
15

Total liabilities excluding pension liabilities

Net liabilities of defined benefit pension scheme

19

Total liabilities including pension liabilities
Share capital
Reserves

Memorandum items
Contingent liabilities
Commitments

16
17

18
18

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors
on 7 March 2009 and were signed on its behalf by
Ahmad Azizi
Deputy Chairman and Managing Director
The notes on pages 33 to 58 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Total Recognised
Gains and Losses
For the year ended 31 December 2008

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

Profit after taxation

5,322

34,507

Reserve movements to reflect Financial Reporting Standard 17.
Exchange rate impact on deficit brought forward
Actuarial loss
Deficit funding deferred tax impact

(1,029)

292
(669)
113

Note

Net movement through profit and loss account

17

(1,029)

(264)

Movements through available for sale reserve
Movement in fair value during year
Deferred tax impact at 28% (2007: 30%)

8

1,305
(379)

(1,383)
415

17

926

(968)

(15)

-

5,204

33,275

Net movement through available for sale reserve
Foreign exchange rate impact on share capital denominated in Sterling
Total gains and losses recognised for the year

The notes on pages 33 to 58 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Accounts
Forming part of the financial statements

1. Accounting policies
The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing
with items which are considered material in relation to the financial statements,
except if noted below.
Functional and reporting currencies
A change in functional currency from US Dollar to Euro was recognised on
31 October 2007 and the reporting currency was changed on that date.
Translation was made using the exchange rate at the date of change and the
resulting amounts for non monetary items were treated as their historical cost.
Income and expenses in the income statement were translated at average
monthly rates that reflected the exchange rates at the date of the transaction.
Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention and in accordance with the special provisions of Part VII, Chapter
II of the Companies Act 1985 relating to banking companies, applicable UK
generally accepted accounting principles and the relevant British Bankers’
Association Statements of Recommended Accounting Practice.
As the company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Bank Melli Iran which
produces publicly available accounts the company has taken advantage of
the exemption available in FRS 8 and not disclosed transactions or balances
with entities which form part of the Group. Similarly the Company has taken
advantage of the exemption within FRS 1 (revised), “Cash Flow Statement”,
and does not produce a cash flow statement.
The company has one class of business and all other services provided are
ancillary to this. Business is conducted from the United Kingdom and from a
branch in Hong Kong.
a) Interest receivable and payable
Interest receivable and payable is accrued over the period of the related loans,
securities and deposits using the effective interest method.

d) Debt securities
Securities intended for use on a
continuing basis in the company’s
activities are treated as available for
sale assets and initially recognised
at fair value. Subsequent changes in
fair value not reflecting impairment
are included as a movement of equity
until sale when the cumulative gain
or loss is transferred to profit and
loss. In accordance with FRS 26,
impairment is recognised in profit
and loss even though the financial
asset is not derecognised. The Bank
does not classify any of the securities
held as held to maturity. Fair value is
determined by reference to published
price quotations in an active market
or is estimated using best available
external information.
Where dated investment securities
have been purchased at a premium
or discount, these premiums and
discounts are amortised through the
profit and loss account from the date
of acquisition to the date of maturity
using the effective interest method.
Securities held for trading purposes
are initially recognised at cost and
subsequently stated at fair value with
changes in value being recognised
through the profit and loss account.

b) Fees and commissions receivable and payable
Fees and commissions are taken to profit when received, except when those
fees are an adjustment to the yield on the related asset, in which case they
are deferred over the period of the asset. Fees and commission payable on
borrowings are expensed to the profit and loss account over the life of the
borrowing. In both cases the transfer of fees and commissions to profit is made
using the effective interest method.
c) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are stated at amortised cost after deduction of amounts
which are required as impairment provisions. Where loans have been acquired
at a premium or discount, these premiums and discounts are amortised
through the profit and loss account from the date of acquisition to the date of
maturity using the effective interest method.
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e) Fixed assets and depreciation
Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less the estimated residual
value of tangible fixed assets by equal instalments over their estimated
useful economic lives as follows:
Leasehold buildings
Leasehold improvements
Fixtures, fittings and equipment
Motor vehicles

-

over the remaining period of the lease
12.5% per annum
20% per annum
20% per annum

No depreciation is charged on assets in course of construction.
f) Impairment provisions
Impairment provisions are made where there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows from the asset that can be reliably estimated.
Losses expected as a result of future events are not recognised. Evidence of
impairment is considered on both individual and portfolio bases.
g) Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the rate of exchange
ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the rate of exchange
ruling at the balance sheet date and the gains or losses on translations are
included in the profit and loss account. Non monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange
rate at the date of the transaction.
h) Taxation
The charge for taxation is based on the profit for the year and takes into
account taxation deferred because of timing differences between the treatment
of certain items for taxation and accounting purposes. Deferred tax is
recognised, without discounting, in respect of all timing differences between
the treatment of certain items for taxation and accounting purposes which have
arisen but not reversed at the balance sheet date.
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i) Pensions and other post
retirement benefits
The company operates a defined
contribution pension scheme. The
assets of the scheme are held
separately from those of the company
in an independently administered
fund. The amounts charged to the
profit and loss account represent the
contributions payable to the scheme
in respect of the accounting period.
The company also operates a
defined benefit pension scheme
based on final pensionable pay that
was closed to future accrual from
31 July 2004 and replaced by the
defined contribution scheme. Defined
benefit pension scheme liabilities are
measured using the projected unit
credit method and discounted at the
current rate of return on a high quality
corporate bond of equivalent term
and currency to the liability.
j) Operating lease rentals
Operating lease rentals are charged
to the profit and loss account on a
straight line basis over the period of
the lease.
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2. Dealing profits

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

(9,935)
4,894

399
(1,656)

(5,041)

(1,257)

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

5,232
445
375

6,105
564
518

85
310

187
12

687
3,373

852
4,330

10,507

12,568

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

Current taxation:
UK corporation tax at 28.5% (2007: 30%) on income for the year
UK corporation tax adjustment in relation to prior year

3,800
116

13,842
1

Total current tax (Note 4(b))

3,916

13,843

Deferred taxation (Note 11):
Adjustment in respect of prior years
Origination and reversal of timing differences

(126)
(1,507)

(18)
(923)

Tax on profit on ordinary activities

2,283

12,902

Dealing profits arising from:
Dealing in foreign exchange
Dealing in securities

Turnover in the securities trading book was nil (in 2007 turnover of €20m
earned a profit of €12k). No securities trading assets were held at the year
end (2007: nil)

3. Administration expenses
Staff costs
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Other pension costs
Auditor’s remuneration
Fees payable for the audit of the financial statements
Fees paid in relation to reporting to HM Treasury
Operating lease rentals in respect of leasehold premises
Other administration expenses

The average number of employees employed
by the Bank during the year was 82 (2007:92).

4. Taxation
a) Analysis of charge for the year
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b) Factors affecting the tax charge
The current tax charge for the year is higher than (2007: lower than) the standard rate
of corporation tax in the UK of 28.5% (2007: 30%). The differences are explained below:

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation
Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by UK standard rate
of corporation tax of 28.5% (2007: 30%)
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Pension contributions taken through pension deficit
Difference between profit on disposal and chargeable gain
Impairment provision disallowed
Expenses disallowed	
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances
Adjustment in relation to prior years
Current tax charge for the year (Note 4(a))

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

7,605

47,409

2,168

14,222

3
(271)
1,858
39
4
115

5
(418)
(55)
90
(1)

3,916

13,843

c) Factors that may affect the future tax charges
The directors of the company are not aware of any factors which will have a material effect upon future tax charges.

5. Remuneration and interests of directors

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

Directors’ emoluments

925

871

Highest paid director’s emoluments:
Salary and bonus

183

184

36
15
3
34

39
17
6
34

150

156

421

436

Benefits:
Arising from rent paid to Bank Melli Iran
Arising from use of company car
Arising from membership of medical scheme
Pension contributions
UK income tax and national insurance

The directors are remunerated in sterling.
Four directors at 31 December 2008 (four at 31 December 2007) were
members of the Bank’s pension scheme which provided benefits based on final
pensionable pay. The scheme closed and benefits were frozen on 31 July 2004.
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6. Loans and receivables - banks
Cash and balances at banks
Repayable on demand
Remaining maturity:
3 months or less
1 year or less but over 3 months
5 years or less but over 1 year
Over 5 years

Impairment provision

Loans and receivables - banks:
Loans and receivables - money market counterparties
Loans and receivables - other banks

Non-performing loans and advances to banks:
before impairment provisions
after impairment provisions

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

156,979

273,018

50,230
91,573
35,270
-

202,319
502,442
228,355
-

334,052
(881)

1,206,134
-

333,171

1,206,134

9,112
324,059

368,216
837,918

333,171

1,206,134

979

-

98

-

132,032

304,090

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

5,090

7,671

24,015
42,303
25,247
19,156

53,932
104,464
156,220
16,888

115,811
(8,520)

339,175
-

107,291

339,175

Of the above amount 28% (2007: 33%) represents exposure to Iranian banks
other than Group undertakings.
Due from Group undertakings
All loans and receivables – banks have been classified as loans and receivables
and reported at amortised cost under the requirements of FRS 26. At 31
December 2008 the effective interest rate earned on loans and receivables –
banks was 7.12% (2007: 6.37%).

7. Loans and receivables - customers

Repayable on demand or at short notice
Remaining maturity:
3 months or less
1 year or less but over 3 months
5 years or less but over 1 year
Over 5 years

Impairment provisions

Non-performing loans and advances to customers:
before impairment provisions
after impairment provisions

		
12,772

-

4,252

-

Of the above amount 46% (2007: 65%) are exposures to Iranian corporates
and government owned entities.
All loans and receivables - customers have been classified as loans and receivables and reported
at amortised cost under the requirements of FRS 26. At 31 December 2008 the effective interest
rate earned on loans and receivables - customers was 9.34% (2007: 9.28%).
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8. Debt securities

Available for sale

Available for sale

Investment securities - listed
non financial corporations
financial corporations
government
Investment securities - unlisted
Issued by other issuers:
financial corporations

Securities due within one year
Securities due one year or over

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

48,829

245,044

Balance Sheet
Fair value
2008 $’000

Amortised
Cost
2008 $’000

Balance Sheet
Fair value
2007 $’000

Amortised
Cost
2007 $’000

627
9,904
-

6,034
14,996
-

42,370
57,929
49,000

42,799
58,923
48,995

38,298

35,000

95,745

95,000

48,829

56,030

245,044

245,717

38,924
9,905

35,630
20,400

53,076
191,968

53,087
192,630

48,829

56,030

245,044

245,717

Movement in valuation in year
Impairment reflected in profit and loss (note 9)

(6,528)
7,833

(1,383)
-

Movement in available for sale reserve in year

1,305

(1,383)

Movements in debt securities are analysed
as follows:

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

Cost
At start of year
Exchange rate impact
Additions during the year
Disposals during the year
Maturities during the year

246,630
(831)
(137,781)
(51,988)

565,937
(16,199)
94,041
(388,149)
(9,000)

Net book cost at end of year

56,030

246,630

At 31 December 2008 the effective interest rate earned on debt securities was
2.18% (2007: 4.88%).
At 31 December 2008 no debt securities (2007: €110m) had interest applied at
fixed rates, all other debt securities and loans and receivables were at variable
rates. The overall net effective interest sensitivity at 31 December 2008 was
2.18% (2007: 2.82%).
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9. Impairment provisions
Following the adoption of FRS 26 the Bank makes impairment provisions only where there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and that loss event
(or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows from the asset that can be reliably estimated.
2008
$’000

2007
$’000

7,833
881
8,520

-

17,234

-

At start of year
Charge against profits - available for sale investments (note 8)
Charge against profits - lending to banks (note 6)
Charge against profits - lending to other customers (note 7)
Impairment loss provision

10. Tangible fixed assets

Freehold
building

Leasehold
improvements

Fixtures,
fittings,
and
equipment

Motor
vehicle

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

901
249
-

2,370
19
20

2,877
33
3

38
-

6,186
301
23

1,150

2,409

2,913

38

6,510

Depreciation
At 31/12/07
Charge
Impact of exchange rate movements

218
-

796
83
1

2,348
214
3

38
-

3,182
515
4

At 31/12/08

218

880

2,565

38

3,701

Net book value
At 31/12/08

932

1,529

348

-

2,809

At 31/12/07

901

1,574

529

-

3,004

Cost
At 31/12/07
Additions
Impact of exchange rate movements
At 31/12/08

In August 2007 the Bank sold a property in Tehran bought in 2005 with the purpose of
accommodating the Tehran representative office. The sale brought a profit of €741,000.
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11. Deferred tax

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

Balance brought forward
Adjustment in respect of fair value of investments
Accelerated capital allowances
Adjustment in respect of allowances in prior years
Impairment provisions
Recoverable costs
Recognition of contribution to closed pension scheme

1,193
(187)
(26)
126
1,825
31
(323)

(163)
415
67
17
857

Deferred tax asset

2,639

1,193

The deferred tax asset comprises the following amounts

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

Impairment provision
Accelerated capital allowances
Recognition of fair value of investments
Recoverable costs
Pension prepaid

1,825
108
15
126
565

134
202
857

Deferred tax asset

2,639

1,193

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

45,726

85,415

13
125,000

836,632
103,210
361,587

170,739

1,386,844

151,163

763,207

The company recognised the deferred tax asset as being receivable at 31
December 2008 as the directors were of the opinion that, on the basis of all
available evidence, it was more likely than not that there would be suitable
future tax profits from which the future reversal of the underlying timing
differences could be deducted. Recognition was in accordance with the
provisions of FRS 19.

12. Deposits by banks

Repayable on demand
With agreed maturity dates or periods of notice, by remaining maturity:
3 months or less but not repayable on demand
1 year or less but over 3 months
5 years or less but over 1 year

Amounts include:
Due to Group undertaking

At 31 December 2008 the effective interest rate paid on deposits by banks
was 2.04% (2007: 4.41%).
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13. Customer accounts

Repayable on demand
With agreed maturity dates or periods of notice, by remaining maturity:
3 months or less but not repayable on demand
1 year or less but over 3 months

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

10,461

38,162

137
22

4,418
9,694

10,620

52,274

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

4,228
-

7,218
5,889

4,228

13,107

At 31 December 2008 the effective interest rate paid on customer accounts
was 1.86% (2007: 2.41%).

14. Other liabilities

Sundry creditors
Corporation tax

15. Subordinated loan
On 15 November 2001 Melli Bank issued unsecured subordinated floating rate loan notes to Bank Melli Iran of
$75,000,000. The interest on the loan notes is based on US dollar Libor plus a margin and is repayable in full on 15
November 2050 or at five years notice from the loan note holder.
On 16 March 2006 Melli Bank issued Class A unsecured subordinated floating rate loan notes to Bank Melli Iran of
$37,543,000. Interest on the loan notes is based on US dollar Libor plus a margin and the loan notes are repayable in full
on 16 September 2050 or in whole at thirty days notice from Melli Bank or in whole or in part at five years notice from the
loan note holder.
On 16 March 2006 Melli Bank issued Class B perpetual subordinated floating rate loan notes to Bank Melli Iran of
$43,687,000. Interest on the loans is based on US dollar Libor plus a margin and the loan notes are repayable in whole at
thirty days notice from Melli Bank. The Class B notes must be redeemed by March 2056. Class B note holders have no
right to call for redemption of the notes.
At 31 December 2008 the effective interest rate paid on subordinated loans was 3.75% (2007: 5.94%).

16. Called up share capital

Authorised
50,000 Ordinary shares of £1 each
225,000,000 Ordinary shares of $1 each
300,000,000 Ordinary shares of €1 each

Allotted, called up and fully paid
50,000 Ordinary shares of £1 each
192,717,499 Ordinary shares of €1 each
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2008
$’000

2007
$’000

68
153,061
300,000

68
153,061
300,000

453,129

453,129

68
192,717

68
192,717

192,785

192,785
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17. Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

34,243
5,322
(1,029)
(33,772)

34,383
34,507
(264)
(34,383)

4,764

34,243

Balance brought forward
Movements recognised through the statement of total recognised gains & losses

(471)
926

497
(968)

Available for sale reserve carried forward

455

(471)

(15)

-

5,204

33,772

Profit and loss account
Balance brought forward
Retained profit after taxation
Movements recognised through the statement of total recognised gains & losses
Dividend paid (2007 reserves capitalisation)
Profit and loss account balance carried forward
Available for sale reserve

Foreign exchange rate impact on share capital denominated in Sterling
Total reserves
There were no movements in shareholders’ funds other than those
detailed above.

18. Contingent liabilities and commitments
Included in the contingent liabilities is €17.8million (2007: €12.3million) in respect of acceptances and letters of credit
issued or confirmed by the Bank. Of this amount, letters of credit amounting to €0.6million (2007: €1.8million) have
been issued by the branches of the parent company.
Other contingent liabilities in existence at 31 December 2008 amounted to €2.2million (2007: €20.5million) in respect
of letters of guarantee issued by the Bank, of which €1.5million (2007: €15.0million) related to our parent company.
The annual commitment under a fifteen year, non-cancellable, property operating lease was €0.9million
(2007: €0.9million).
Undrawn commitments at 31 December 2008 amounted to €9.2million (2007: €197.1million).
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19. Pension scheme
As at
31 Dec 2008
$’000

As at
31 Dec 2007
$’000

12,613
11,188

18,462
17,505

1,425
1,425

957
957

-

-

Year ended
31 Dec 2008
$’000

Year ended
31 Dec 2007
$’000

Expected return on scheme assets
Gain/(loss) on scheme assets

840
(2,069)

951
(1,048)

Actual return on scheme assets

(1,229)

(97)

Year ended
31 Dec 2008
$’000

Year ended
31 Dec 2007
$’000

(840)
74
766

13
(951)
15
923

-

-

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet

Assets
Liabilities
Surplus
Unrecoverable surplus
Recoverable surplus

The surplus in the Scheme as at 31 December 2008 was €1,425,000, of which
none is deemed recoverable.
Assets of €1,425,000 have not been recognised on the company balance sheet.

Composition of the scheme		
The Employer operates a defined benefit scheme in the UK. An actuarial valuation
was carried out as at 1 August 2006 and updated to 31 December 2008 for
FRS 17 purposes.

Actual return on scheme assets:

Analysis of the amount recognised in profit or loss:

Current service cost
Expected return on assets
Adjustment due to restrictions on surplus recognition
Interest cost
Total operating charge

The current service cost represents the pension scheme expenses paid from
scheme assets. The Pensions Protection Levy and all other scheme expenses
that have been paid directly by the company have been excluded from these
disclosures.
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Analysis of amount recognised in statement of total recognised
gains and losses (STRGL)
Actual return less expected return on assets
Experience gains and (losses) arising on the scheme liabilities
Adjustment due to restrictions on surplus recognition
Actuarial gain/(loss) recognised in STRGL
Cumulative actuarial gain/(loss) recognised in STRGL

Movement in liabilities during the year

Year ended
31 Dec 2008
$’000

Year ended
31 Dec 2007
$’000

(2,069)
2,683
(614)

(1,048)
1,321
(942)

-

(669)

(4,650)

(4,650)

Year ended
31 Dec 2008
$’000

Year ended
31 Dec 2007
$’000

Scheme liabilities at beginning of year
Movement in year:
Exchange rate impact on assets brought forward
Current service cost
Interest cost
Benefits paid
Actuarial loss/(gain)

17,505

19,788

(4,038)
766
(362)
(2,683)

14
923
(1,899)
(1,321)

Scheme liabilities at end of year

11,188

17,505

The current service cost represents the pension scheme expenses paid from scheme assets. The Pensions
Protection Levy and all other scheme expenses that have been paid directly by the company have been
excluded from these disclosures.

Movement in assets during the year

Year ended
31 Dec 2008
$’000

Year ended
31 Dec 2007
$’000

Scheme assets at beginning of year
Movement in year:
Exchange rate impact on assets brought forward
Expected return on scheme assets
Employer contributions
Benefits paid
Actuarial gain/(loss)

18,462

16,482

(4,258)
840
(362)
(2,069)

951
3,974
(1,897)
(1,048)

Scheme assets at end of year

12,613

18,462

Commentary
The valuation at 31 December 2008 showed an increase in the surplus from £701,000 to £1,357,000.
The improvement in the position is due to a reduction in the liabilities from changes to the assumptions used,
in particular an increase in the discount rate, offset by investment returns much lower than expected.
		
The Employer paid no contributions into the scheme over the year to 31 December 2008 but paid directly all
scheme charges and levies. This is consistent with the Schedule of Contributions signed on 9 November 2007.
No further contributions are expected in the following period.

44

ANNUAL REPORT 2008

www.mellibank.com

$’000

History of amounts for current and
previous four accounting periods

Scheme liabilities
Scheme assets
Surplus / (Deficit)
Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities
Experience adjustments on scheme assets

Year
ended
31 Dec
2008

Year
ended
31 Dec
2007

Year
ended
31 Dec
2006

Year
ended
31 Dec
2005

Year
ended
31 Dec
2004

11,188
12,613
1,425
(2,683)
(2,069)

17,505
18,462
957
(1,321)
(1,048)

17,149
14,284
(2,865)
37
(149)

19,402
16,145
(3,257)
(484)
1,366

16,080
13,523
(2,557)
282
(16)

Experience items from years ending before 31 December 2007 are shown here using previous disclosure requirements.

Assets
The assets of the Scheme are invested in a Cash Accumulation policy and a Managed Cash fund policy both issued by
Prudential. The fair value of the assets has been determined as the (unaudited) surrender value of the Cash Accumulation
policy and bid value of the managed fund. At 31 December 2008 these were £4,029,000 and £2,746,000 respectively.
In addition the Scheme holds an asset in respect of annuities purchased in the Trustees’ name to meet benefits due to
pensioners. The value of assets in respect of these policies is taken as equal to the value of the liability that they cover,
which was €5,497,000 at 31 December 2008.
The value of assets disclosed excludes funds held in respect of Additional Voluntary Contributions.
The overall expected rate of return for the Cash Accumulation policy has been assessed with reference to the published
distribution of assets underlying the Prudential With Profit Fund. The following table sets out the long-term expected rate
of future return on each asset class, and therefore how the overall weighted average expected rate of return of the policy
has been derived.

As at 31-Dec-2008

Fixed Interest (including Bonds)
UK Equities
International Equities
Property
Cash
TOTAL

As at 31-Dec-2007

% of Fund

Expected
return on
assets

% of Fund

Expected
return on
assets

30%
38%
15%
15%
2%

6.70%
6.70%
6.70%
6.70%
3.70%

25%
39%
17%
15%
4%

5.80%
7.60%
7.60%
7.60%
4.60%

100%

6.70%

100%

7.00%

The expected rate of future return on the managed Cash fund is 3.7%. The weighted average expected rate of future
return on the With Profit policy and the Managed Cash fund has therefore been determined as 5.5%.
The expected return on annuity policies is taken to be the discount rate used to value the pensioner liabilities.
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Liabilities		
The liabilities have been valued using the projected unit method, taking into account benefits accrued with allowance
for future statutory revaluation of deferred benefits. Secured benefits have been assessed according to the benefit
provisions of the rules, using the assumptions set out in this report.
The present value of the liabilities is set out below:
Value of liabilities

Secured benefits
Other scheme benefits
Total liabilities

As at
31-Dec-08
$’000

As at
31-Dec-07
$’000

5,497
5,691

7,625
9,880

11,188

17,505

The value of liabilities disclosed excludes funds held in respect of Additional Voluntary Contributions.
Valuation Basis
The liabilities have been valued using the following assumptions. The key financial elements of the basis, which reflect
market conditions at each accounting year end, have been determined as follows:
The discount rate reflects the yield on the iBoxx AA-rated over 15-year corporate bond index. The yield is based on
market conditions as at 31 December 2008.
The rate of inflation has been obtained by reference to the difference between fixed-interest and index-linked gilt yields,
and all RPI-linked pension increases in payment have been assessed with reference to the inflation assumption.

Financial assumptions
Discount rate
Inflation
Increases to deferred pensions before
retirement (statutory revaluation).
Increases to pension in payment at 5% or
RPI if less, subject to a minimum of 3% p.a.
Expenses

As at 31-Dec-08

As at 31-Dec-07

6.70%
2.70%
2.70%

5.80%
3.45%
3.45%

3.30%

3.45%

1% of value of liability
(excluding secured benefits)

1% of value of liability
(excluding secured benefits)

In accordance with the
published mortality table:
Males:
PMA92 medium cohort
(year of birth projection)
Females:
PFA92 medium cohort
(year of birth projection)
In accordance with the
published mortality table:
Males:
PMA92 medium cohort
(year of birth projection)
Females:
PFA92 medium cohort
(year of birth projection)
90%
90%
Husband 3 years older
than wife.

In accordance with the
published mortality table:
Males:
PMA92 medium cohort
(year of birth projection)
Females:
PFA92 medium cohort
(year of birth projection)
In accordance with the
published mortality table:
Males:
PMA92 medium cohort
(year of birth projection)
Females:
PFA92 medium cohort
(year of birth projection)
90%
90%
Husband 3 years older
than wife.

Demographic assumptions
Mortality before retirement

Mortality after retirement

% married before retirement
% married at retirement
Age difference of spouse
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20. Management of financial risks and uncertainties
Melli Bank is a UK incorporated bank, licensed and regulated by the Financial Services Authority and conforms to all UK
accounting standards and disclosure requirements. It is a wholly owned subsidiary of Bank Melli Iran, the largest bank in
Iran by assets.
Until 24 June 2008 the Bank offered a diversified portfolio of products and services to cater to the varying needs of its
customers. The Bank provided term lending, trade and project finance and foreign exchange services and those services
needed to meet the needs of the export business market. Export services were typically based around letters of credit
and the Bank provided all services in this regard i.e. advising, confirmation, negotiation and payment and acted as a
reimbursing bank for other banks. Letter of credit and bill discounting services were provided as well as the issuance of
bonds and guarantees.
The Bank had identified the risks to which it was exposed in its activities and had in place a management framework and
control procedures to meet such risks. The most significant areas of risk comprised:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Credit Risk
Operational Risk
Foreign Exchange and Market Risk
Liquidity Risk
Concentration Risk (in particular the risk attached to the Bank’s very close relationship with Iran)
Interest Rate Risk

These control procedures addressed each of these risks and assessed the capital required to meet each risk. The Bank
also carried out stress test exercises examining extreme operational circumstances.
Capital Management
Continued retention of earnings and conversion of reserves to share capital throughout 2002 to 2007 enabled the Bank
to increase its capital base and maintain high capital levels required to not only adhere to our regulatory country limits
but also to expand and diversify business operations in the Bank’s key market of Iran. The increased capital base
when combined with proceeds from certificates of deposit issued in 2006 provided us with the means for a significant
expansion in the size of the Bank’s balance sheet. This rapid expansion had two simultaneous effects: an improvement
in indicators of performance on the one hand and a gradual decline in the Bank’s capital ratio from 58.7% in 2002 to
28.8% in 2006 before increasing back to 41.7% in 2007 as a result of a deliberate reduction in the asset base on the
balance sheet.
Regardless of the factors and events underlying fluctuations in the Bank’s capital ratio, the risk-based capital ratio
has consistently exceeded that of most of our peers and has always been above the minimum thresholds set by our
regulator and this, in our view, is indicative of the soundness of the Bank’s policies in respect to managing the various
risks affecting its operations and activities. Since incorporation, the Bank has received outstanding support from its
parent, Bank Melli Iran. In particular, the parent has provided both considerable deposit-funding and has granted the
Bank a substantial capital base. Until 2008 the Bank had capitalized all profits earned since its incorporation either as
reserves or reinvestments by our parent entity in the form of subordinated loans.

Subordinated loans (€m)
Shareholders’ equity (€m)
Regulatory capital (€m)
Pillar I risk-based capital ratio
Equity to asset ratio
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2008

2007

2006

2005

2004

2003

2002

113
198
310
71.7%
40%

106
227
333
41.7%
12%

118
208
326
28.8%
7%

63
259
322
44.2%
10%

55
200
255
41.4%
12%

60
200
260
45.3%
11%

72
224
296
58.7%
12%
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Risk control environment
The size and structure of Melli Bank
enables the direct involvement of
the most senior managers in the
day to day activities of the Bank and
provides short and effective channels
of communication that readily
identify and address both threats and
opportunities.
In parallel to such routine operational
controls, the Bank operates a
committee structure to formally
review activities. The committees
have common members, but that is
a necessary corollary to the compact
nature of the Bank’s operations and
management.
The Audit Committee provides
independent oversight of the activities
of executive management. It identifies
fully and diligently, considers and
weighs the various risks in conducting
the business of Melli Bank , ensuring
that enduring control systems
and reporting cultures are in place
(appropriate to the scale, nature and
complexity of the business) to manage
the Bank prudently and profitably.
The Management Committee
possesses an integrated risk focus
and undertakes the management
of risks and rewards within all
aspects of the Bank’s performance
including market trends for interest
and currency rates, liquidity, foreign
exchange positions, interest rate risk
and the structure and performance
of assets and liabilities. The
Management Committee monitors the
availability and application of capital
and the overall performance of the
Bank.
The Credit Committee focuses
primarily on transactional approvals,
as well as proposing counterparty
limits for banks on foreign exchange
and money market dealings,
approving credit applications over
a certain limit and reviewing all
applications made under that limit by
authorised officers. The Committee is
also responsible for establishing the
appetite for credit and marketing risk.
The efficacy of the management
framework and control procedures
was confirmed by the results: before
sanction the Bank had no provisions
for impaired loans, had earned a
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surplus on its small open foreign
exchange positions and had suffered
no operational losses.

liquidity, leverage, profitability, debtservice coverage, and volatility among
other factors.

Risk control procedures

Implementing the general policy of
retaining high-quality assets has led to
prudent credit decisions, the outcome
of which is reflected in the consistent
non-existence of loan losses and
minimal levels of loan impairment
provisions and non-performing loans.

Credit Risk
The Bank was and is exposed to
credit risk in both its on and offbalance sheet activities and in
its daily settlements. There is a
requirement to clearly identify credit
risk and to manage credit risk not
only individually, but also at a sector/
industry level and at an overall
portfolio level. By closely monitoring
its portfolio, the Bank is able to gauge
the quality of credit risk taken on
its books and is able to gauge the
movement of the portfolio over time.
The Bank emphasises a policy of
adequate asset quality, as reflected
in its Credit Policy Statement. Asset
quality is determined on the basis
of the size, trend, and mix of the
Bank’s portfolio of financial assets,
as well as the associated credit risk.
Accordingly, the Bank’s consistently
strong asset base is the direct result
of credit decisions that have been
and will continue to be driven by
principles outlined in the Credit Policy
Statement.
Iran has been the Bank’s niche
market where it has had a large
concentration mainly as a result of its
expert knowledge in understanding,
analysing and managing the unique
risks associated with investment
opportunities in the Iranian market.
However, strict standards in
maintaining a high-quality asset
base have led to the adoption of
a conservative approach even in
the Iranian business and thus the
Bank’s products and facilities have
generally been offered to a select
class of high-quality and reputable
customers known to the Bank,
rated counterparties, or certain
unrated counterparties. To rate risk,
the Bank has carefully combined
a judgmental approach, whereby
ratings are assigned on the basis of
financial ratios and an expert opinion
on management quality, industry,
and operating environment, with
a discriminant analysis approach
according to which companies or
facilities are classified into several
categories based on indicators of

The Bank employs an internal
corporate credit rating system
to facilitate the monitoring of the
portfolio. The monitoring system can
identify individual portfolio segments
and movements in the portfolio over
time. Customer, issuer and industry
risk were reviewed on inception of
each particular deal, and regularly
thereafter. In instances of concern a
more frequent review schedule would
be applied.
The Bank would usually look to take
collateral or security in support of
corporate loan facilities with the type
and level of collateral being determined
on a case by case basis but normally
taking the form of one or more of the
following:
•	A pledge of shares in listed
companies.
•	A mortgage of property.
•	Bank, corporate or personal
guarantees.
• Cash.
The collateral would typically cover a
sum in excess of the exposure of the
Bank.
Inter-bank limits are reviewed annually
by a matrix approved by the Board
of the Bank. The matrix is driven by
the level of the external credit agency
short and long term rating for each
bank, and the net worth of each bank.
Occasionally, outside events alter the
rating, or the Bank will take a view that
it would be appropriate to increase
or decrease a limit, in which case an
individual paper is produced.
Country risk is analysed using a matrix
based upon the level of external credit
agency short and long term rating for
each country. The matrix is approved
by the Board, and presentation to
Credit Committee is made annually. As
in the case of banks, any changes in
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the status of the country during the
year could require that an individual
paper be produced.
Exposure against overall limits (both
regulatory and internal) is checked
on a daily basis, and any excesses
reported to senior management and
to Credit Committee.
Following the adoption of FRS 26 the
Bank makes impairment provisions
only where there is objective
evidence of impairment as a result
of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the
asset and that loss event (or events)
has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows from the asset
that can be reliably estimated. The
provisions made in 2008 are set out
in Note 9 to these accounts.
Operational Risk
The Bank considers Operational
Risk to be the risk of loss resulting
from inadequate or failed internal
processes, people and systems or
from external events.
The Bank policy is to monitor
Operational Risk through the
assessment of losses or near losses
and the review of new products and
procedures and reporting to the
Operational Risk Committee. The
Bank has identified no material losses
since implementation of this procedure
and any process failures identified as
near losses have been addressed.
The Bank has full disaster recovery
procedures in place and these
are tested to ensure operational
effectiveness. The procedures
include a fully functional back up
site with necessary IT systems
and communication capabilities. IT
hardware is operated with full back up
capabilities and third party software.
Foreign Exchange and Market Risk
The Bank’s foreign exchange
activity was principally driven by
the requirement to cover exposures
related to client operations. The limit
on any short term open position was
set by the Board on an annual basis
and all open positions were reviewed
by the Management Committee.
Open positions reflected delays in
processing transactions as a result
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of the extra territorial pressures
exerted on the clearing systems: the
Bank sought to operate on a close
to flat basis. The open positions are
monitored daily.
The Bank did from time to time
take proprietary trading positions,
limited to a maximum of €10m
intra-day position, this limit being
set and reviewed annually by the
Board. The Bank also operated spot
foreign exchange trading through
an on-line application; the losses
on this business were limited to the
collateral posted.
The extent of foreign currency
exposure is set out in Note 21.
The Bank has significant net asset
exposures to both US Dollars and
Sterling. The open positions will be
impacted by the currency in which
maturing assets are settled; at the
option of the borrower, settlement
may be made in other than the
denominated currency of the asset.
Market risk was primarily incurred
through the trading book. The Bank
traded marketable debt securities
with the objective of making profit
from both interest rate and credit
spread movements but to very
low levels; the maximum holding
was restricted to €20m. All such
securities were marked-to-market
daily with gains or losses taken
directly to the Profit & Loss account.
All issuers had to meet the Bank’s
credit criteria in the form of minimum
external credit rating agencies’
ratings, liquidity of issues, maturity
of instruments, industry and product
concentration. The Bank did not
trade in marketable securities in
2008.
Liquidity Risk
Prior to sanction being imposed the
Bank had agreed with the FSA to
maintain an overall flat to positive
mismatch in the period up to one
month for all currencies and at least
€40m of excess liquidity in liquid
assets freely traded or convertible
within the EEA.
The Bank’s management has
significant experience of managing
liquidity under unfavourable
conditions and had put in place
procedures for constant monitoring

of its position. Management
reviewed investment policy through
scheduled and ad hoc meetings
of the Management Committee so
that actions matched the prevailing
conditions and the Bank maintained
the appropriate degree of liquidity.
The Bank’s assets were arranged
to include a sizeable portfolio of
highly liquid debt securities which
could be sold in order to meet any
unanticipated cash outflow.
Policies in respect to liquidity
management are set forth in the
Bank’s Liquidity Policy Statement,
based on which the Bank maintains
a suitable liquid position that ensures
it is able to meet obligations as they
become due and manages potential
fluctuations in depositors’ demands.
The Liquidity Policy Statement
specifies, among other things,
the Bank’s business activities and
associated maturities, the structure
of the deposit base and borrowing
capacity, and the implementation
and monitoring of liquidity. Over
the past years, the general liquidity
strategy has been based on funding
by sustainable deposits and capital
base and lending mainly in short,
under one year, assets as this
enables retention of adequate levels
of liquidity at all times. From 2002
up to 2008, liquid assets on average
comprised 29% of the Bank’s total
assets with an average ratio of liquid
assets to total deposits of 34% over
the same period.
The Bank’s Management Committee
monitors liquidity daily based on
product type, time-to-maturity, and
branch reports and ensures that
the Bank’s position matches the
prevailing conditions and that the
Bank maintains the appropriate
levels of liquidity at all times. The
distribution system enables drill down
of any reported item to product or
account level.
The Bank benefited from a stable
core of deposits from its parent, Bank
Melli Iran, and from Bank Markazi
and other Iranian government
institutions. This core of deposits
was, in practice, unaffected by
normal cyclical factors. The entirely
different nature of its activities meant
that the Bank was not subject to the
withdrawals that affected both retail
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banking operations and those banks
dependent upon wholesale funding.
In November 2005, the Bank
successfully raised US$150 million
through a 3-year syndicated loan

Maturity analysis
31 December 2008

facility. This was led by a syndicate
of seventeen major international
banks with Standard Chartered
Bank, Standard Bank and Arab
Banking Corporation acting as the
Mandated Arrangers. The issue

Not more
than three
months

More than
three
but not
more than
six months

More than
six months
but not
more than
one year

proved exceptionally successful
and was indicative of the Bank’s
ability in raising liquidity from the
global lending market. The loan
was comfortably and fully repaid in
November 2008.

$’000

$’000

$’000

More than
one year
but not
more
than five
years
$’000

Assets:
Loans and receivables - banks
Loans and receivables - customers
Debt securities
Other assets

206,328
28,121
-

62,416
21,263
25,000
-

29,157
17,438
10,627
-

35,270
21,313
13,202
-

19,156
-

14,058

333,171
107,291
48,829
14,058

Total Assets

234,449

108,679

57,222

69,785

19,156

14,058

503,349

Liabilities:
Deposits by banks
Customer accounts
Other liabilities
Loan capital and shareholders’ funds

45,726
10,598
-

13
22
-

-

125,000
-

112,558

11,443
197,989

170,739
10,620
11,443
310,547

Total liabilities

56,324

35

-

125,000

112,558

209,432

503,349

Not more
than three
months

More than
three
but not
more than
six months

More than
six months
but not
more than
one year

More than
five years

Undated
Items

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

Maturity analysis
31 December 2007

More than
five years

Undated
Items

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

-

$’000

$’000

$’000

More than
one year
but not
more
than five
years
$’000

Assets:
Loans and receivables - banks
Loans and receivables - customers
Debt securities
Other assets

475,337
61,606
-

219,749
44,223
49,000
-

282,693
60,218
4,093
-

228,355
156,240
191,951
-

16,888
-

29,925

1,206,134
339,175
245,044
29,925

Total Assets

536,943

312,972

347,004

576,546

16,888

29,925

1,820,278

Liabilities:
Deposits by banks
Certificates of deposit
Customer accounts
Other liabilities
Loan capital and shareholders’ funds

143,894
49,784
-

779,311
9,427
-

102,052
268
-

361,587
13
-

106,279

41,106
226,557

1,025,257
361,587
59,492
41,106
332,836

Total liabilities

193,678

788,738

102,320

361,600

106,279

267,663

1,820,278

The Bank makes no behavioural adjustment to the maturity of deposits or assets, all are assumed at the contracted
repayment date in the management of liquidity.
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Concentration Risk
Concentration risk arises when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar activities or similar geographic
locations so that they have economic characteristics that would cause their ability to meet their obligations to be
similarly affected by changes in economic or other circumstances. From the Bank perspective, the major area of sector
concentration was found in the Iranian banking sector whilst geographic concentration risk arose from the Bank’s
exposure to the economy of Iran.
The Bank’s experience of lending to Iranian state owned banks and businesses is very good, with no losses recorded
from such business during more than six years of Melli Bank’s operation. Furthermore the Bank has not recorded any
losses from such business whilst operating as a branch of Bank Melli Iran, in total more than forty years experience
without loss. The Iranian state banks have established records of meeting all obligations, including any interest cost of
delayed transactions.
The Bank also lends to privately owned Iranian banks. Again, the Bank’s experience has been good with no recorded
losses but the history is shorter and the customers are inherently less secure. However, given the regulation and
structure of the Iranian banking sector, the Bank considers that capital losses will not arise.
Lending to the Iranian banking sector, other than Group undertakings, comprised 18% of assets at 31 December 2008
(22% at 31 December 2007).
The Bank had particular risk from its exposure to a very small number of very large depositors: almost all of its funds
were drawn from its parent and the Central Bank of Iran. When operating freely the Bank managed the matching of
maturity of liabilities and assets so that funds were available to meet payments as they fell due. Under sanction the Bank
has proportionately even greater liquidity as maturing assets are held at call or settled against long term deposits.
Geographic concentration risk arises from the Bank’s exposure to the economy of Iran: this area receives particular
attention in the identification of the amount of capital to be set aside to meet the risks inherent in the Bank’s business
model.

Melli Bank, as a UK incorporated bank, has the United Kingdom as its home country. At 31 December 2008 the country
of risk of its assets and liabilities comprises:

Iran
United Kingdom (including share capital)
Malta
Jersey
Dubai
Others

Assets
$’000

Liabilities
$’000

255,093
133,517
22,162
21,614
19,064
51,899

286,146
210,990
75
744
5,394

503,349

503,349

Interest Rate Risk
The Bank operates mismatches in the repricing of its assets and liabilities. The resulting interest rate risk is monitored
using the “one-year equivalent” methodology, essentially a duration calculation. Each interest bearing asset or liability in
the repricing gap analysis is multiplied by its remaining repricing maturity (in years) and added (assets positive; liabilities
negative) to produce a one-year equivalent position for all assets and liabilities.
The interest rate risk is managed by the Bank’s treasury and monitored by means of daily interest gap reports. Reports
are circulated to the Management Committee and the report distribution system enables drill down of any reported item
to product or account level.
The limit of interest rate risk is reviewed and set annually by the Board. The limit in place for 2008 was that a 1% parallel
shift movement in interest rates should not exceed 10% of the annual profit. The Board delegated to the executive
directors the authority to exceed this limit in exceptional circumstances, under the established practice that the exercise
of such delegated authority would be previously discussed and approved by the Management Committee.
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The analysis of Interest Rate Risk is set out below.

Interest rate risk
31 December 2008

Not more
than three
months

More than
three
but not
more than
six months

More than
six months
but not
more than
one year

$’000

$’000

$’000

More than
one year
but not
more
than five
years
$’000

More than
five years

Noninterest
bearing

Assets:
Loans and receivables - banks
Loans and receivables - customers
Debt securities
Other assets

$’000

$’000

103,274
91,719
13,199
-

72,203
10,060
25,630
-

1,533
5,470
10,000
-

33
-

-

156,161
9
14,058

Total Assets

208,192

107,893

17,003

33

-

170,228

Liabilities:
Deposits by banks
Customer accounts
Other liabilities
Loan capital and shareholders’ funds

155,599
3,689
58,523

13
22
54,035

-

-

-

15,127
6,909
11,443
197,989

Total liabilities

217,811

54,070

-

-

-

231,468

Interest sensitivity gap

(9,619)

53,823

17,003

33

-

(61,240)

Cumulative interest sensitivity gap

(9,619)

44,204

61,207

61,240

61,240

-

The Bank makes no adjustment to the repricing dates of deposits or assets, all are assumed at the contracted date
in the management of interest exposure.
At 31 December 2008 the sensitivity of the Bank to a 1% parallel shift in interest rates was €0.2m (2007: €0.3m).
Interest rate risk
31 December 2007
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Not more
than three
months

More than
three
but not
more than
six months

More than
six months
but not
more than
one year

More than
five years

Noninterest
bearing

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

More than
one year
but not
more
than five
years
$’000

Assets:
Loans and receivables - banks
Loans and receivables - customers
Debt securities
Other assets

403,416
106,821
99,195
-

258,602
208,900
49,819
-

296,134
12,212
-

159,014
3,402
96,030
-

35
-

88,968
7,805
29,925

Total Assets

609,432

517,321

308,346

258,446

35

126,698

Liabilities:
Deposits by banks
Certificates of deposit
Customer accounts
Other liabilities
Loan capital and shareholders’ funds

141,638
26,807
55,259

881,352
9,427
51,020

11
268
-

361,587
13
-

-

2,256
22,977
41,106
226,557

Total liabilities

223,704

941,799

279

361,600

-

292,896

Interest sensitivity gap

385,728

(424,478)

308,067

(103,154)

35

(166,198)

Cumulative interest sensitivity gap

385,728

(38,750)

269,317

166,163

166,198

-
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Impact of sanctions
The sanction imposed on 24 June 2008 prevents the Bank from undertaking any new business. A licence from HM
Treasury is required for all transactions. Whilst the Bank’s risk control structures remain in place the Bank is unable to
take any significant action to mitigate any risks identified. The most significant impacts of such constraints have been
seen in the following areas:
	Credit Risk
	Sanction has severely limited the ability of the Bank to negotiate with or influence its customers, placing the Bank
at an immense disadvantage in the difficult economic circumstances experienced in the second half of 2008.
The Bank identified two significant impaired loans during the second half where the limited available options
eventually required recognition of impairment at a cost of €8.6m.
	Foreign Exchange and Market Risk
	The imposed sanctions prevent the Bank from squaring the foreign exchange positions as closing such
positions is considered to be new business. The Bank has been compelled to maintain open foreign exchange
positions significantly above those that would have been held whilst trading normally. Holding the open positions
throughout the second half of 2008 brought a foreign exchange loss of €10.8m.
The Bank will make the fullest use of the previous procedures immediately the EU sanction is lifted.

21. Assets & liabilities denominated in foreign currency
The total assets of the company by currency are as follows:
Denominated in:
US Dollars
Euro
Sterling
Other

The total liabilities of the company by currency are as follows:
Denominated in:
US Dollars
Euro
Sterling
Other

The net asset/(liability) positions of the company by currency
are as follows:
Denominated in:
US Dollars
Euro
Sterling
Other

2008
$’m

2007
$’m

137
336
15
15

224
1,463
74
59

503

1,820

124
359
5
15

224
1,503
75
18

503

1,820

13
(23)
10
-

(40)
(1)
41

-

-

A 10% appreciation in value of US Dollar against Euro would increase the profit by €1.3m, while a similar movement in
Sterling would increase the profit by €1.0m.
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22. Segmental Reporting

Net interest income
Fees, commissions and dealing income
Expenses and impairment losses
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation

2008 (€m)

2007 (€m)

UK

Hong
Kong

Total

UK

Hong
Kong

Total

30.8
2.9
(27.1)

1.0
1.1
(1.1)

31.8
4.0
(28.2)

44.3
10.7
(9.8)

1.5
3.4
(2.7)

45.8
14.1
(12.5)

6.6

1.0

7.6

45.2

2.2

47.4

23. Related party disclosures
As at 31 December 2008 there were two loans to officers of the company amounting to €5,602 (2007: two loans
amounting to €12,733).

24. Ultimate parent undertaking
The company is a subsidiary undertaking of Bank Melli Iran, Ferdowsi Avenue, Tehran, Iran.
The company’s results are consolidated in the accounts of Bank Melli Iran. The consolidated accounts of this company
are available to the public and may be obtained from the company’s head office at Bank Melli Iran, Head Office,
Ferdowsi Avenue, Tehran, Iran.
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Basel II Pillar 3 Disclosure
The original Basel Accord was agreed
in 1988 by the Basel Committee on
Banking Supervision. Basel II is a
revision of that framework, which
aims to make the framework more
risk sensitive and representative of
modern banks’ risk management
practices. There are four main
components to the new framework:
•	It is more sensitive to the risks
that firms face: the new framework
includes an explicit measure for
operational risk and includes
more risk-sensitive risk weightings
against credit risk.
•	It reflects improvements in firms’
risk-management practices, for
example the internal ratings-based
approach (IRB) allows firms to rely
to a certain extent on their own
estimates of credit risk.
•	It provides incentives for firms to
improve their risk-management
practices, with more risk-sensitive
risk weightings
as firms adopt more sophisticated
approaches to risk management.
•	The new framework aims to leave
the overall level of capital held
by banks collectively broadly
unchanged.
The Basel II Accord, implemented in
the European Union via the Capital
Requirements Directive consists of
three ‘pillars’.
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•	Pillar 1 of the new standards
sets out the minimum capital
requirements firms will be required
to meet for credit, market and
operational risk.
•	Pillar 2, firms and supervisors
have to take a view on whether a
firm should hold additional capital
against risks not covered in Pillar 1
and must take action accordingly.
•	Pillar 3 aims to improve market
discipline by requiring firms
to publish certain details of
their risks, capital and risk
management.

disclosures is also available on
the Bank’s internet web site,
www.mellibank.com.

The following disclosures are
provided by Melli Bank to
supplement the information
disclosed elsewhere in the
annual report and so meet the
requirements of Pillar 3. The annual
report incorporating these Pillar 3

The Bank processes used for the
management and reporting of risk
are set out in Note 20 of the Annual
Report and Accounts. As stated in
that note, the Bank manages risk
through a committee structure as
follows:

Risk Management Objectives
The assumption of risk is a
fundamental part of the Bank’s
business. The risk management
objectives of the Bank are to ensure
that the management team are
aware of the risks to which the
Bank is subject so that controls are
in place to manage and mitigate
those risks and provide capital to
meet any residual risk.

Melli Bank plc
Board of Directors

Audit
Committee

Management
Committee

Credit
Committee

Asset and
Liabilities Committee

Operational
Risk Committee
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Capital Resources
The Bank has not yet received FSA approval for the capital limit identified by the internal capital adequacy assessment
process that has been in place since November 2007 and so continues to operate under the transitional prudential
capital arrangements based on Pillar 1.
At 31 December 2008 the capital resources of the Bank comprised:

€’000
Share capital (Annual report note 16)
Profit and loss account (Annual report note 17)
Foreign exchange impact on valuation of share capital
Tier 1 Capital

192,785
4,764
(15)
197,534

Subordinated debt (Annual report note 15)
Available for sale reserve (Annual report note 17)
Tier 2 Capital

112,558
455
113,013

Total Capital Base
Eligible Capital Base

310,547
296,301

Capital adequacy ratio
Pillar 1 transitional arrangement
Pillar 1 transitional arrangement regulatory limit

71.1%
18.0%

Pillar 2 internal capital adequacy requirement

63,038

Pillar 2 Internal Capital Adequacy Requirement

Credit Risk
Operational Risk
Concentration Risk
Foreign Exchange Risk
Stress Testing
Internally assessed capital requirement

Assessed Capital
Requirement (€’000)
31,752
7,741
4,300
4,600
14,645
63,038

Capital Management
The outcome of the internal capital adequacy assessment process is included within the management reports that are
circulated to both the Management Committee and the Board. The credit team review processes to confirm the credit
ratings of all loans as part of the established review processes.
The Bank monitors the actual capital requirement against an internal trigger point set at 1.05 times the transitional limit
with any fall below that limit immediately highlighted for remedial action. This approach, measured against the individual
capital guidance limit set by the FSA, avoids any risk of breach of the regulatory limit.
However, the level of Bank capital has been driven not by the requirements of the internal capital adequacy assessment
or by the transitional prudential capital arrangement, but rather to meet the Iran country exposure limit that the FSA
requested to be retained even under the Basel 2 capital assessment structure.
The country limit places a very high capital weighting on Iranian exposures, effectively 33% against a Basel 2 standard
weighting of 8%, making compliance with the country limit the overriding capital constraint.
The Bank considers that the completeness of the risk assessment undertaken in accord with Basel 2 through the internal
capital adequacy assessment process means that the risks foreseen by the country limit are included and that the
additional country limit is redundant. FSA agreement to the removal of this limit has not been received.
The results contained in this annual report identify the following capital requirements at 31 December 2008 under the
Bank’s internal capital adequacy assessment process:
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Credit Risk
The Bank has adopted the standardised approach to the assessment of capital for credit risk using Fitch credit ratings.
At 31 December 2008 the breakdown by exposure class, which includes off
balance sheet transactions, was:
Central government or central banks
Institutions
Corporates
Other items

Net Exposure
(€000)

Capital
Requirement
(€000)

75,100
325,048
102,933
12,747

5,825
15,811
8,860
1,256
31,752

Requirement at 31 December 2008

At 31 December 2008 the breakdown by credit risk category was:
Risk Weighting
0%
20%
50%
100%

Weighted
Exposure
(€000)

Capital (8%)
Requirement
(€000)

10,222
18,052
368,625

818
1,444
29,490

Requirement at 31 December 2008

31,752

The large proportion of assets attracting a 100% weighting reflects that many Iranian organisations are unrated.

Operational Risk
Melli Bank has not suffered any significant operational loss to date and has not identified any losses to be charged
against profit in the year.
The Basic Indicator Approach, calculated as 15% of the average of last three years annual gross income, has been
adopted as a prudent assessment of capital at risk.

The operating income for the last three years has been:
2008 operating income
2007 operating income
2006 operating income
Average operating income
Capital requirement at 31 December 2008 - 15%
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€’000
35,861
59,867
59,085
51,604
7,741
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Concentration Risk
Concentration risk arises when
a number of counterparties are
engaged in similar activities or similar
geographic locations so that they
have economic characteristics that
would cause their ability to meet
their obligations to be similarly
affected by changes in economic or
other circumstances. Geographic
concentration risk arises from the
Bank’s exposure to the economy
of Iran.
The Bank’s consideration of the
capital needed to support the risk
in its exposure to Iran recognised
that such concentration was not
single sided; that the business
concentration provided benefits that
mitigated the risks within the close
relationship.
The ICAAP (Internal Capital
Adequacy Assessment Process)
recognised that the ability of Iran’s
financial community to develop
and implement a rapid response
to the United Nations sanctions
on Bank Sepah had provided Melli
Bank with protection against any
difficulties that might otherwise have
been experienced: such effective
and efficient arrangements would
not have been possible with more
widely spread and hence shallower
relationships.
The ICAAP also noted that an integral
part of the business strategies of all
the large Iranian banks is, and has
been for many years, to maintain
an effective and efficient presence
in international financial markets:
the particular commitment of Bank
Melli Iran to this strategy being
demonstrated by the reinvestment of
capital. The relatively small size of the
overseas operations in comparison
to the parent means that the parent
is well able to support the operation
should profitability decline.
These benefits were considered to
mitigate the risk of loss but, as each
was outside the direct control of the
Bank, it did not eliminate that risk:
in each case the outcome was in the
hands of others.

58

ANNUAL REPORT 2008

The Bank estimated that a prudent
assumption would be a loss of 25%
of the non bank Iranian balances and
applied a generous probability of
33% of this happening. The additional
capital requirement to meet this risk,
given that the credit risk assessment
has already set aside 8% capital
backing, is assessed as $4.3m (being
$57.3m outstanding balances, net of
provisions, requiring 25% support,
against 8% already provided as credit
risk, at a probability of 33.3%).
Foreign Exchange Risk
In usual circumstances the Bank
operates with a small open position
in relation to its overall balance
sheet size and its profitability.
Under sanction however the foreign
exchange position is uncontrolled
and the impacts, as seen in 2008,
can be large.
The capital backing for the risk is
assessed as that necessary to offset
a 20% adverse movement in the total
position. At 31 December the open
position of €23m requires €4.6m.
Other Risks
The Bank considers that none of the
other risks assessed required capital
backing; each was either insignificant
or improbable even within the current
economic turmoil. The Bank can
operate profitably under sanction
apart from the potential costs of
currency fluctuations that are outside
its control.

The Iranian economy is heavily
dependent upon oil sales and its
ability to trade the proceeds of
those oil sales. This means that the
Iranian economy is susceptible to
a recession in the world economy
and attendant fall in the demand for
and price of oil as well as particular
local economic pressures that give
rise to inflation. However, the Iranian
economy has a very good record of
meeting its obligations; in the last
thirty years it has rescheduled debts
only once and on that occasion met
all debts and interest as falling due.
The risk of recession is seen as one
of cash flow rather than capital loss
from lending.
Given this experience, a very worst
case scenario has been assessed to
be a two step reduction in the credit
rating of all balances with over three
months maturity, both within and
outside Iran and a reduction in the
credit rating of Iran sovereign risk
to below B3 – so attracting a 150%
credit weighting.
The decline in the credit rating has
been reflected by increasing the
weighting of those loans carrying a
100% weighting to 150% so requiring
additional capital of €14.645k (50%
of €29,290k). The Bank has not
applied any probability factor to the
likelihood of such loss.

Stress Testing
The Bank is operating in the
most difficult circumstances. The
constraints of limited market access,
restricted expansion opportunities and
complexity of operation that might in
more normal circumstances, be part of
stress test analyses are already being
confronted and overcome.
The stress testing exercise looks
only at those factors that would
dramatically impact on the Bank
as a going concern; under current
circumstances the only significant
additional risk would be the impact
of a major recession in Iran.
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